IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

SHELBY DIVISION
IN THE MATTER OF:
)


)


)

CASE NO. 

John Q. Public and
)

OUR FILE NO.

Mary Public,
)


)


Debtors.
)

______________________________
)


)

Juan Q. Público and
)

ADV. PROC. NO.

Maria Público,
)


)


Plaintiffs,
)


)

vs.
)


)

FIRST RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE SERVICES
)

CORP.; WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
)

ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE FOR 
)

CERTIFICATE HOLDERS OF BEAR STEARNS
)

ASSET BACKED SECURITIES I LLC, ASSET
)

BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2007-AC2;
)

AND EMC MORTGAGE CORPORATION,
)


)


Defendants.
)


)
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.
This Complaint is filed under the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 (hereinafter called “TILA”), to enforce the Plaintiffs’ right to rescind a consumer credit transaction, to void the Defendants’ security interest in the Plaintiffs’ home, and to recover statutory damages, reasonable attorney’s fees and costs by reason of the Defendant’s violations of TILA and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 226 (hereinafter called “Regulation Z”). This action is also filed for actual and statutory damages from Defendant EMC pursuant to 12 U.S.C. §§ 2605(e)(1)(A) and 2605(e)(1)(B)(2) and §§ 3500.21(e)(1) and 3500.21(e)(3) of Regulation X. This action also is filed for damages against First Residential for its unfair and deceptive conduct in violation of the North Carolina Consumer Economic Protection Act (“CEPA”). This action also is filed against all defendants to recover damages resulting from defendants’ fraud, misrepresentation, and civil conspiracy.
II. JURISDICTION
2.
On January 5, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a voluntary petition under chapter 13 of the Bankruptcy Code (Title 11, United States Code). Therefore, the Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1334 and 157, as amended, and the Order of Reference made by the district court for this district (which Order was entered in accordance with the Bankruptcy Amendments and Federal Judgeship Act of 1984). Jurisdiction is further conferred on the Court by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337. The Court has authority to issue a declaratory judgment by virtue of 28 U.S.C. § 2201. The Court has both personal and subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Sections 1334 and 157(b)(2). The Court has jurisdiction to hear the claims for relief under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 2614. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction to hear all state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1367.
3.
This matter is a core proceeding and therefore the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction to enter a final order. However, in the event this case is determined to be a non-core proceeding then and in that event the Plaintiffs consent to the entry of a final order by the Bankruptcy Judge.
III. PARTIES
4. The Plaintiffs are the Debtors, Juan Q. Público (“Juan”) and Maria Público (“Maria”) (individually or collectively, “Plaintiffs”). The Plaintiffs own and reside at the real property known as 360 North Hampton, Shelby, North Carolina (the “Property).
5. Defendant First Residential Mortgage Services Corporation (hereinafter “First Residential”) is a New Jersey corporation engaged in the business of mortgage banking and loan correspondence with a principal place of business located at 570 Sylvan Ave., Englewood Cliffs, NJ 07632-3101. First Residential’s North Carolina Resident Agent is Blumberg Excelsior Corporate Services, Inc., 176 Mine Lake Court, #100, Raleigh, North Carolina 27615. First Residential is identified as the originating lender on Plaintiffs’ Deed of Trust encumbering the Property that was recorded January 2, 2007, at Deed Book 1370, Page 846, in the office of the Cleveland County Register of Deeds (the “Deed of Trust”).
6. Defendant assignee Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee for Certificate holders of Bear Stearns Asset Backed Securities I LLC, Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-AC2 (hereinafter “Wells Fargo” or the “Trust”), is identified in that certain Deed of Appointment of Substitute Trustee, recorded on the Property October 28, 2009, at Deed Book 1625, Page 326, in the office of the Cleveland County Register of Deeds, as the owner and holder of the Note secured by the Deed of Trust.
7. Defendant EMC Mortgage Corporation (hereinafter “EMC”) is a Delaware corporation engaged in the business of mortgage lending, securitization, and servicing, with a principal place of business located at 800 State Highway 121 Bypass, Lewisville, TX 75067-3884. EMC’s North Carolina Resident Agent is the CT Corporation System, 150 Fayetteville Street, Box 1011, Raleigh, NC 27601. EMC is identified as the Seller, Master Servicer, and the Company in the Pooling and Servicing Agreement
 (PSA) which governs the subject Trust, dated as of February 1, 2007 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
8. At all times relevant hereto, First Residential, in the ordinary course of its business, regularly extended or offered to extend consumer credit for which a finance charge is or may be imposed or which, by written agreement, is payable in more than four installments.
IV. FACTS
9. On or about November 20, 2006, Plaintiffs entered into a consumer credit transaction (hereinafter the “transaction”) with First Residential in which the extended consumer credit was subject to a finance charge and which was initially payable to First Residential.
10. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT A is a true and accurate copy of the credit agreement evidencing the transaction (the “Note”).
11. As part of this consumer credit transaction, First Residential retained a security interest in the Property.
12. The security interest was not created to finance the acquisition or initial construction of Plaintiffs’ home.
13. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT B is a true and accurate copy of the mortgage evidencing First Residential’s security interest (the “Deed of Trust”).
14. The settlement agent for the transaction was Settlement Services, Inc. (“Settlement Services”). Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT C is a true and accurate copy of the HUD-1 Settlement Statement (“HUD-1 ") prepared by Settlement Services and delivered to Plaintiffs on November 20, 2006 when the transaction closed. Settlement Services’ representative stated at the outset of the closing that he was running late and pressed for time, and rushed Plaintiffs through the process of signing the settlement papers.
15. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT D is a true and accurate copy of Settlement Services’ Deposit/Check Disbursement Statement for the transaction (“Disbursements”).
16. The HUD-1 inaccurately states that closing took place at Settlement Services’ office at 8604 Cliff Cameron Drive, Suite 110, Charlotte, NC 28269. Closing actually took place after 5:00 p.m. at the office of First Residential’s loan officer (“LO”) located at 111 W. Central Avenue, #203, Mount Holly, North Carolina (the “Closing”).
17. Plaintiffs were introduced to LO by the real estate agent that helped them buy the Property in October 2005, and LO recommended Settlement Services’ closing services to Plaintiffs.
18. Plaintiffs do not speak or read English. LO served as Plaintiffs’ interpreter throughout the transaction. Plaintiffs communicated with First Residential only through LO.
19. Juan emigrated to the United States from Bolivia and is a permanent resident alien of the United States. Juan works as a debris truck driver for Roofing Services Inc. of Lawndale, North Carolina, a roofing contractor, since at least 2005. Maria works as a cook and housekeeper for St. Mary’s Catholic Church in Shelby, North Carolina, where she has been employed for the past four years. Plaintiffs are not well educated and are unsophisticated in business and financial matters.
20. All of the transaction documents signed by Plaintiffs at closing are in English. The subject loan is in Juan’s name only, but the Deed of Trust was signed by both Plaintiffs at since the Property is owned by Plaintiffs as husband and wife, tenants by the entirety. 
21. The subject loan, which was originated to be securitized, is known as a “stated income, stated asset” (“SISA”) loan, and was underwritten based on Juan’s credit score, the loan to value ratio, and the belief that residential real estate in this country can only go up in value.
22. LO never asked Juan how much income he received. She only asked Juan for his social security number and his authorization to check his credit report, and she told Juan that was the only information she needed to qualify him for a loan.
23. LO prepared the Uniform Residential Loan Application (“Application”) that Juan signed at closing, a true and correct copy of which is attached as PLAINTIFFS’  EXHIBIT E.
24. The Application lists Juan’s gross monthly income as $9,500 from fence construction self employment, and Maria’s income as zero. LO supplied the income information on the Application, which she got by searching www.salary.com for the average income of a person engaged in fence construction, rather than reporting Plaintiffs’ actual income. LO did not tell Plaintiffs that she falsified their income and occupation on the Application. Juan did not know when he signed the Application that it incorrectly stated his income and his occupation.
25. LO was acting within the scope of her employment, and in the manner she had been taught at First Residential, when she stated Plaintiffs’ income on the Application.
26. First Residential never asked Juan for his tax returns, pay stubs, or any other evidence of his actual income.
27. The transaction resulted in little or no benefit to Plaintiffs, but cost them $7,443 in closing charges (in the form of equity skimming) that would not have been incurred had the transaction not been consummated, and decreased their debt service by only $61 per month. The interest rate on the first trust that was refinanced was a five-year ARM at a starting rate of 7.375%, a minimum rate of 2.375% and a maximum rate of 12.375% based on 6-month LIBOR index plus 2.25%, with the first change date on November 1, 2010. Had Plaintiffs not refinanced, their interest expense likely would drop significantly in November since LIBOR is currently at 0.39%.
28. First Residential assigned the obligation in question to Wells Fargo.
V. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATION OF TRUTH IN LENDING ACT 
(as to Defendants First Residential and Wells Fargo)
29. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege each and every preceding paragraph as if fully set forth herein.
30. First Residential is a creditor within the meaning of § 1602(f) of the Truth in Lending Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq., hereinafter “TILA” or the “Act”) and Regulation Z, 12 C. F.R. § 226.2(a)(17), and as such was required to provide notices of the right to rescind the transaction and to deliver material disclosures including, but not limited to, the amount financed, finance charge and annual percentage rate to Plaintiffs consistent with the Truth In Lending Act.
31. Plaintiffs are consumers within the meaning of § 1602(h) of the Act and Regulation Z, § 226.2(a)(11).
32. This consumer credit transaction was subject to the PLAINTIFFS’ right of rescission as described by 15 U.S.C. § 1635 and Regulation Z § 226.23 (12 C. F.R. § 226.23).
33. In the course of this consumer credit transaction, First Residential violated 15 U.S.C. § 1635(a) and Regulation Z § 226.23(b) by failing to deliver to the Plaintiff two copies of a notice of the right to rescind that clearly and conspicuously disclosed the date the rescission period expired. Instead, the notice incorrectly states the transaction date as October 26, 2006, rather than the actual transaction date of November 20, 2006.
34. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT F is a true and accurate copy of the Notice of Right to Cancel the transaction delivered at Closing to Plaintiffs.
35. The disclosure statement issued in conjunction with this consumer credit transaction, and attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT G, violated the requirements of TILA and Regulation Z in the following and other respects:

a.
By failing to include in the finance charge certain charges imposed by First
Residential and payable by Plaintiffs incident to the extension of credit as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1605 and Regulation Z, § 226.4, thus improperly under-disclosing the finance charge in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(3) and Regulation Z, § 226.18(d). Such amounts include, but are not limited to the following charges that are not “bona fide and reasonable,” and therefore not properly excluded finance charges:
	HUD-1 LINE
	AMOUNT 
CHARGED
	DESCRIPTION
	BONA FIDE
	NOT BONA 
FIDE

	303
	$
9,015.33
	Cash out
	$
8,905.50
	 $  109.83

	1102
	$
   195.00
	Abstract
	$
   179.00
	   $     6.00

	1108
	$
1,002.00
	Title Insurance
	$ 
   532.50
	 $  469.50



	1201
	$
60.00
	Releases
	$ 
0.00
	$   60.00




i.
Actual Disbursements. Settlement Services’ Disbursements (Pls’ Ex. D) prove that the actual amount disbursed to Juan from the transaction loan proceeds was $8,905.50, or $109.83 less than stated on the HUD-1 (Pls’ Ex. C), which difference consists of an extra day of interest in the amount of $76.30 (Line 901) and $33.53 in hidden bogus charges. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT H is a true and correct copy of Settlement Services’ unsigned HUD-1 printed 11/22/2006 showing the $76.30 in additional interest charged Juan, and First Residential’s unsigned revised notice of right to cancel containing the correct transaction date, neither of which was ever presented to Plaintiffs. Settlement Services’ Disbursements also prove that the $60 charged for government release recording charges (Line 1201) is bogus, and that the actual amount paid for the title abstract (Line 1102) was $179 rather than the $195 stated on the HUD-1. Plaintiffs were not aware of these bogus charges, nor would a reasonable person have been, until sometime after January 29, 2010, when Settlement Services produced its transaction file.


ii.
Title Insurance. Nearly half ($469.50) of the title insurance charges (Line 110 8) in this transaction are bogus. Plaintiffs were charged $1,002 for the most expensive lender’s title insurance policy possible (the CTIC policy at the original rate), rather than $532.50 for the least expensive lender’s title insurance policy possible (standard policy with re-issue rate), in violation of North Carolina General Statute 58-27-5 which states:
(a) No person or entity selling real property, or performing services as a real estate agent, attorney or lender, which services are incident to or a part of any real estate settlement or sale, shall pay or receive, directly or indirectly, any kickback, rebate, commission or other payment in connection with the issuance of title insurance for any real property which is a part of such sale or settlement; nor shall any title insurance company, agency or agent make any such payment.

Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT I is a true and accurate copy of North Carolina General Statute 58-27-5. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT J is a true and accurate copy of Chicago Title Insurance Company’s Title Insurance Rates for the State of North Carolina applicable on November 20, 2006, the date of the subject transaction.


a.
Standard vs. Enhanced Coverage Rate. First Residential’s closing instructions required only the less expensive ALTA Title policy, not an expanded or enhanced policy such as the CTIC policy. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT K is a true and accurate copy of First Residential’s closing instructions for the transaction.


b.
Original vs. Re-Issue Rate. Plaintiffs purchased an original owners’ title insurance policy, insuring their interest in the Property in the amount of $410,000, when they bought the Property on October 17, 2005, thereby qualifying for First American’s title insurance re-issue rates in the subject transaction. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT L is Plaintiffs’ CTIC Title Insurance Policy A79-Z005712 dated October 17, 2005. Settlement Services knew Plaintiffs were qualified for CTIC’s lender’s title insurance re-issue rate since Plaintiffs were refinancing two conventional Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac uniform purchase-money deeds of trust on the property dated October 17, 2005, each of which contains the notation at the top of the recorded deed of trust that title was insured by Chicago Title Insurance Company. Plaintiffs also obviously qualified for CTIC’s lender’s title insurance re-issue rates since Plaintiffs’ recorded deed to the property states that title was insured by CTIC. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’  EXHIBIT M is a true and accurate copy of the Plaintiffs’ recorded deed, Settlement Services’ land records search results dated 11/06/2006, and the first page and Schedule A of Plaintiffs’ two prior recorded deeds of trust on the property that were refinanced in the subject transaction, all produced by Settlement Services as part of its closing file for the transaction. Plaintiffs were not aware, nor would a reasonable person have been aware, of these bogus title insurance charges until sometime after July 9, 2009, when they engaged the services of attorney Ira Shady.

b.
By improperly including certain charges, in the amount financed, which are finance charges, including but not limited to those itemized in Paragraph 35(a) herein, First Residential improperly disclosed the amount financed in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(2) and Regulation Z, § 226.18(b); and

c.
By calculating the annual percentage rate (APR) based upon improperly calculated and disclosed finance charges and amount financed, 15 U.S.C. § 1606, Regulation Z, § 226.22, First Residential understated the disclosed annual percentage rate in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(4) and Regulation Z, § 226.18(c).
36. The disclosures improperly made by First Residential, as itemized in paragraph 35, are material disclosures as defined in the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1602(u), Regulation Z, § 226.23 n. 48.
37. The finance charge and APR were under-disclosed by more than $35, the tolerance levels set forth in 15 U.S.C. §§ 1605(f) and 1635(i).
38. By reason of those material violations of 15 U. S.C. § 1638, Plaintiffs have a right of rescission for three years from the date of consummation of the loan pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f).
39.
On November 19, 2009, Plaintiffs rescinded the transaction by sending a notice of
rescission to Defendants, by fax where indicated, and by regular U.S. Mail, or certified U.S. Mail as indicated, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, as follows:
Certified - Return Receipt Requested 
William F. Aldinger III, President
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
Trustee for Certificate holders of Bear Stearns Asset Backed Securities I LLC, 
Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-AC2 
299 South Main Street
Salt Lake City, UT 84111-1901
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
c/o EMC Mortgage Corporation, 
Agent 909 Hidden Ridge #200
Irving, TX 75038
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
c/o EMC Mortgage Corporation
2780 Lake Vista Drive

Lewisville, TX 75067-3884
First Residential Mortgage Services Corp. 570 Sylvan Avenue
Englewood Cliffs. NJ 07632

by US Mail and Fax: 201-758-2800
William F. Aldinger III, President

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee for Certificate holders of Bear Stearns Asset Backed Securities I LLC, 
Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-AC2 
Attn: BK Department, 
1 Home Campus 
P.O. Box 10335
Des Moines, IA 50328
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee for Certificate holders of Bear Stearns Asset Backed Securities I LLC, Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-AC2 
c/o Jacob Geesing, Esquire
Bierman, Geesing & Ward, LLC

4520 East West Highway, Suite 200 Bethesda, MD 20814
by US Mail and Fax: 301-961-6545
40.
Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT N is a true and accurate copy of Plaintiffs’
notice of rescission with the Broadcast Report evidencing fax transmission of the notice on November 19, 2009 (“Rescission Notice”). Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT O is a true and accurate copy of U.S. Postal Service Certified Mail Receipt postmarked 11/19/2009 for Article Number 7005 1820 0007 9088 0063. Attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT P is a true and accurate copy of U.S. Postal Service Domestic Return Receipt evidencing delivery to Wells Fargo of Article Number 7005 1820 0007 9088 0063. Article Number 7005 1820 0007 9088 0063 was an envelope which contained Plaintiffs’ Rescission Notice.
41. Defendants First Residential and Wells Fargo received copies of the Plaintiffs’ notice of rescission on or about November 19, 2006.
42. More than 20 calendar days have passed since the Defendants received copies of the Plaintiffs’ notice of rescission.
43. The Defendants have failed to take any action necessary or appropriate to reflect the termination of any security interest created under the transaction, including the security interest described in Paragraph 8, as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1635(b) and Regulation Z § 226.23(d)(2). Defendant Wells Fargo refused to honor the rescission by its agent’s (EMC Mortgage Corp.) December 29, 2009 letter to Plaintiffs’ counsel, Ira Shady, a true and correct copy of which is attached as PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT Q.
44. The Defendants have failed to return to Plaintiffs any money or property given by the Plaintiffs to anyone, including the Defendants, as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1635(b) and Regulation Z § 226.23(d)(2).
45. As a result of the aforesaid violations of the Act and Regulation Z, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1635(a), 1640(a), and 1641(c), Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs for:
a. Rescission of this transaction.
b. Termination of any security interest in Plaintiffs’ property created under the transaction.
c. Return of any money or property given by the Plaintiffs to anyone, including the Defendants, in connection with this transaction.
d. Statutory damages of $2,000 for the disclosure violations.
e. Statutory damages of $2,000 for Defendants’ failure to respond properly to Plaintiffs’ rescission notice.
f. Forfeiture of return of loan proceeds.
g. Actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial.
h. Reasonable attorney’s fees.
VI. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATION OF REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES ACT 
(as to Defendant EMC)
46. The preceding allegations of this complaint are re-alleged and incorporated herein by this reference.
47. Defendant EMC is the servicer of a "federally related mortgage loan" as that term is defined in 12 U.S.C. § 2602(1). On November 19, 2009, Plaintiffs, though their attorney, sent Defendants Wells Fargo and EMC a “qualified written request” (QWR) as that term is defined under RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(B), and asked Defendants Wells Fargo and EMC to provide them with information necessary to calculate the rescission tender amount under TILA, as follows:
Please provide me with an itemization of the loan disbursements, the loan charges, the current principal balance, and all payments received from my client, so that we may determine the exact amount needed for tender.
PLAINTIFFS' EXHIBIT N.
48. Defendant EMC sent Plaintiffs a response dated December 11, 2009 acknowledging receipt of Plaintiffs’ QWR. Thereafter, EMC sent Plaintiffs a letter dated December 29, 2009, rejecting Plaintiffs’ rescission demand and failed to provide the information requested in Plaintiffs’ QWR. EMC has failed to provide the information requested in Plaintiffs’ QWR.
49. Defendant EMC violated RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2)(C) by failing to provide the Plaintiff with the information and documentation requested, or an explanation why the information sought was unavailable, no later than 60 days after receipt of the Plaintiff’s qualified written request.
50. The Defendant has failed to comply with Section 2605 of Title 12 of the United States Code.
51. Defendant EMC has engaged in a pattern or practice of non-compliance with the requirements of the mortgage servicer provisions of RESPA as set forth in 12 U.S.C. § 2605.
52. Pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f) and § 3500.21(f) of Reg. X, the Plaintiffs may recover of the Defendant EMC actual damages, costs and reasonable attorney fees for each failure of the Defendant to comply with any part of 12 U.S.C. § 2605.
VII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
VIOLATION OF NORTH CAROLINA CONSUMER ECONOMIC PROTECTION ACT 
(as to all Defendants)
53. The preceding allegations of this complaint are re-alleged and incorporated herein by this reference.
54. Defendants conduct was unfair and deceptive and violated the North Carolina Consumer Economic Protection Act (“CEPA”), by intentionally misstating Plaintiffs’ income and occupation on their mortgage Application (PLAINTIFFS’ EXHIBIT E). As a proximate result of the Defendants’ violations of the CEPA, Plaintiffs have suffered damages, including emotional distress and mental anguish, and incurred legal fees.
VIII. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
FRAUD 
(as to all Defendants)
55. The preceding allegations of this complaint are re-alleged and incorporated herein by this reference.
56. Defendants misrepresented material information regarding the mortgage transaction, including but not limited to inflating Juan’s income to qualify him for a loan that he could not afford, and telling him that all they needed to qualify him for a loan was his credit score and social security number.
57. Defendants knew that the representations were false, or acted with reckless disregard to the truth.
58. Defendants made these material misrepresentations to Plaintiffs with the intent that Plaintiff rely upon them.
59. Plaintiffs acted in reliance upon the material misrepresentations.
60. As a direct and proximate result of the material misrepresentations, Plaintiffs suffered damages including but not limited to increased finance charges, excessive loan expenses and interest rates, loss of other credit opportunities, damage to their credit rating, and other costs.
IX. FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
MISREPRESENTATION
(as to all Defendants)
61. The preceding allegations of this complaint are re-alleged and incorporated herein by this reference.
62. Defendants made a representation of one or more material facts, including but not limited to inflating Juan’s income to qualify him for a loan that he could not afford, and telling him that all they needed to qualify him for a loan was his credit score and social security number.
63. The representations were false when they were made.
64. Defendants knew the representations were false when they made it or made the representations recklessly without knowing whether the representations were true.
65. The Defendants made the representations with the intent that plaintiffs rely on them and so that Defendants would profit from the transaction.
66. Plaintiffs did rely on the representations.
67. Plaintiffs were damaged as a result of their reasonable reliance on the representations including but not limited to increased finance charges, excessive loan expenses and interest rates, loss of other credit opportunities, damage to their credit rating, and other costs.
X. SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
CIVIL CONSPIRACY 
(as to all Defendants)
68. The preceding allegations of this complaint are re-alleged and incorporated herein by this reference.
69. Defendants acted in concert pursuant to a common design to and plan to induce plaintiffs to enter into this mortgage transaction which had little or no benefit to them, including but not limited to providing the funding for the scheme.
70. Defendants illegally, maliciously and wrongfully conspired with one another with the intent to and with the purpose of inducing Plaintiffs to enter into this mortgage transaction which had little or no benefit to them.
71. The civil conspiracy resulted in damaging the plaintiffs including but not limited to increased finance charges, excessive loan expenses and interest rates, loss of other credit opportunities, damage to their credit rating, and other costs.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs having set forth their claims for relief against the Defendants respectfully pray of the Court as follows:
A.
That the Plaintiffs have and recover against the Defendants, jointly and severally, a sum to be determined by the Court in the form of actual damages;
B.
That the Plaintiff have and recover against the Defendants, jointly and severally, a sum to be determined by the Court in the form of statutory damages;
C.
That the Plaintiff have and recover against the Defendants, jointly and severally, a sum to be determined by the Court in the form of punitive damages;
D.
That the Plaintiff have and recover against the Defendants, jointly and severally, all reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by her attorney;
E.
That this Court order Defendants, jointly and severally, to pay additional actual damages in a sum to be determined by the Court for violation of the North Carolina Consumer Economic Protection Act;
F.
That the Plaintiffs have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper;
G.
That this Court order the Defendant EMC to pay to the Plaintiffs their attorney’s
fees and costs and additional actual damages a sum to be determined by the Court for each failure to comply with any part of Section 2605 of Title 12 of the United States Code pursuant to Section 2605(f) of Title 12 of the United States Code and Section 3500.21(f) of Reg. X;
H.
The security interest in the Property be declared void;
I.
Defendants’ claim be classified as wholly unsecured;
J.
Defendants’ claim be reduced by all finance charges, insurance charges and all other charges as required by 12 C.F.R. § 226.23;
K.
Plaintiffs be awarded all actual and statutory damages under TILA, §§ 1635 and 1640, for Defendant First Residential’s initial disclosure violations and for its, and its assignee’s failure to honor Plaintiffs’ rescission;
L.
The Claim be reduced by all actual and statutory damages that are awarded to Plaintiffs; and
M.
The Court order such additional relief as is necessary in the interest of justice.
Respectfully submitted, this 

 day of 

, 2010.
O. Max Gardner III

Gardner & Gardner PLLC

Attorney for the Debtor/Defendant

NC State Bar #6164

P.O. Box 1000, Shelby, NC 28151-1000

(704) 487-0616 / FAX (704) 487-0619

e-mail maxgardner@maxgardner.com
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� A true and correct copy of the PSA can be found on the SEC’s web site at: � HYPERLINK "http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1388968/000088237707000985/d642573_ex4-1.htm" �http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1388968/000088237707000985/d642573_ex4-1.htm� 





